AGREEMENT

between

THE HOLLIS SCHOOL BOARD

and

THE HOLLIS EDUCATION ASSOCIATION

2019 - 2022

July 1, 2019 - June 30, 2022

CONTENTS

Article I	Recognition	1
Article II	Negotiation Procedures	1
Article III	Peaceful Resolution of Differences	2
Article IV	Grievance Procedure	2
Article V	Staff Evaluation	4
Article VI	Notices of Vacancies	5
Article VII	Staff Development	5
Article VIII	Compensation	7
Article IX	School Nurse	11
Article X	Working Conditions	11
Article XI	Deductions	14
Article XII	Insurance Benefits	14
Article XIII	Leave Benefits	17
Article XIV	Jurisdiction and Authority	19
Article XV	Duration	20
Appendix A	Grievance Report Form	21
Appendix B	Salary Schedule	24
Appendix C	Reduction In Force	27
	Signature Page	29

ARTICLE I RECOGNITION

- 1.1 The Hollis School Board (hereinafter referred to as "The Board") recognizes, for purposes of collective bargaining, the Hollis Education Association, NEA-NH, (hereinafter referred to as "The Association") as the exclusive representative of all certified teaching employees, librarians, school nurses, and guidance counselors (hereinafter referred to as "Staff Members") employed in the Hollis School District (hereinafter referred to as "The District").
- 1.2 The Association agrees to represent all staff members in the unit designated above without discrimination and without regard to membership in the Association.
- 1.3 The above section shall not prejudice either party's position in petitioning for modification of the bargaining unit before the New Hampshire Public Employee Labor Relations Board.
- 1.4 Economic benefits for part-time staff members shall be calculated on a pro-rata basis. Life, health and dental insurance benefits are available only to Staff Members regularly employed by the District for thirty (30) or more hours per week.

ARTICLE II NEGOTIATIONS PROCEDURE

- 2.1 Not later than October 1 of each year, the parties agree to enter into negotiations. Negotiations shall be in accordance with the procedures set forth in RSA 273-A.
- 2.2 During negotiations, the committee of the Board and the Committee of the Association will present relevant data, exchange points of view, and make proposals and counter proposals.
- 2.3 The costs of the services of the mediator and/or fact finder, including per diem expenses if any, will be shared equally by the Board and the Association.
- 2.4 A copy of any agreement reached hereunder will be filed with the NH PELRB within fourteen (14) days of its execution.
- 2.5 Both parties recognize that any agreement reached which requires the expenditure of public funds for its implementation shall not be binding upon the Board unless and until the necessary appropriations have been made by the voters of the District. The Board recognizes it must make a good faith effort to secure the funds necessary to implement the agreement. If such funds are not forthcoming, the Board and the Association shall resume negotiations in accordance with RSA 273-A.

2.6 Cost items for all years of this Contract will be submitted for approval at the **2019** annual School District meeting.

ARTICLE III PEACEFUL RESOLUTION OF DIFFERENCES

- 3.1 In consideration of this Agreement and its terms and conditions, the Association, its officers, representatives, and members shall not, during the term of this Agreement, engage in or condone any strike, slow down, work stoppage, or other concerted refusal to perform any appropriate assignment on the part of any Staff Member or Members represented under the terms of this Agreement.
- 3.2 Neither the Association nor its members shall take part in or condone "sanctions" against the Board or the District, nor shall the Association, or any Staff Member engage in any activity contrary to RSA 273-A.

ARTICLE IV GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

4.1 DEFINITION

A "grievance" is a claim based upon an event or condition which affects the welfare and/or terms and conditions of employment of a Staff Member or group of Staff Members based upon the interpretation, application, or violation of any of the provisions of this Agreement. An "aggrieved party" is the person or persons or the Association making the claim. All time limits specified in this Article IV shall mean school days, except under Section 4.8 of this Article IV.

4.2 PURPOSE

The parties acknowledge that it is more desirable for a Staff Member and his/her immediately involved supervisor to resolve problems through free and informal communications. Grievances which are not satisfactorily settled in an informal way shall be reduced to writing (see Appendix A attached hereto) and referred to the following formal grievance procedure.

4.3 <u>RIGHT OF REPRESENTATION</u>

A Staff Member covered by this Agreement shall, under this Article IV, have the right to have an association representative present at any time subject to his/her requesting such representation.

4.4 TIME LIMIT

A grievance to be considered under this procedure must be initiated in writing within twenty (20) school days of its occurrence, or within twenty (20) school days of when the party should have known of its occurrence.

4.5 FORMAL PROCEDURE

The grievance shall state the specific alleged violation or condition with proper reference to the contract agreement and relief sought.

<u>LEVEL A</u>. Within five (5) days of receipt of a formal grievance, the building principal shall meet with the aggrieved Staff Member. Within five (5) days following any such meeting, the principal shall give his/her answer in writing. If the grievance is not settled at this level, then it may be referred to Level B within five (5) days of the receipt of any answer given at this level.

<u>LEVEL B.</u> Within ten (10) days of a grievance being referred to this level, the Superintendent will meet with the participants of Level A and examine the facts of the grievance. The Superintendent shall give his/her answer within five (5) days of any such meeting. If the grievance is not settled at this level, then within ten (10) days from receipt of the answer rendered at this level the grievance may be referred to Level C, the School Board.

<u>LEVEL C.</u> Within thirty (30) days of a grievance being referred to this level, the Board will hold a hearing with the participants of Levels A and B, examine the facts of the grievance and give its answer. If the grievance is not settled at this level, then within thirty (30) days from the receipt of the answer rendered at this level, the matter may be referred to arbitration as set forth in Level D of this procedure.

LEVEL D. If the matter is referred to arbitration, the parties shall have ten (10) days to select a mutually acceptable arbitrator. If the parties are unable to agree on an arbitrator, then they shall apply to the American Arbitration Association or the Public Employee Labor Relations Board to name an arbitrator under the rules and procedures then obtaining of the service. The arbitrator shall use his/her best efforts to arbitrate the grievance, but he/she shall have no power or authority to do other than interpret and apply the provisions of this Agreement and he/she shall have no power to add to or subtract from, alter, or modify any of the said provisions. The arbitrator shall thereafter submit a decision to both parties. The arbitrator's decision shall be binding on both parties. The parties agree to share equally in the compensation and expenses of the arbitrator. Either party may appeal the arbitrator's decision in accordance with the provisions of RSA 542.

- 4.6 Time periods specified in this procedure may be extended by mutual agreement.
- 4.7 Grievance(s) of a general nature or involving the Superintendent may be submitted by the Association to Level B.
- 4.8 In the event a grievance is filed on or after June 1, the parties agree to make a good faith effort to reduce the time limits set forth herein so that the grievance procedure may be exhausted prior to the end of the school term or as soon thereafter as is practicable. During the summer recess, all time limits shall refer to normal business days (Monday through Friday, except legal holidays).
- 4.9 Failure at any step of this procedure to communicate the decision on a grievance within the specified time limits (unless extended by mutual agreement) shall permit the aggrieved person to proceed to the next level.
- 4.10 The parties agree that staff members covered by the Agreement shall enjoy freedom from restraint, interference, coercion, discrimination, or reprisal in presenting or appealing any grievance(s).
- 4.11 With respect to the following matters, the Level C decision by the School Board shall be final and binding, and such matters are excluded from the arbitration provisions of this Agreement:
- A. Management prerogatives as set forth in this Agreement and as provided and interpreted under RSA-273-A;
- B. School Board Policies, except for Reduction-in-Force, as approved by the parties on *November 18*, *2018* and referenced herein in *Appendix C*;
- C. Suspension, dismissal and non-renewal of a Staff Member as defined by the appropriate RSA's.
- 4.12 Grievances shall not be made a part of any employee's personnel file or used in making employment references.

ARTICLE V STAFF EVALUATION

5.1 The Board and the Association agree that the responsibility for staff evaluations rests with the administration and that such evaluation will be done on an ongoing basis. Staff evaluation will be conducted by the school administration in accordance with the SAU 41 Professional Growth Model which has been approved by the Association and the NH Department of Education.

5.2 A written evaluation report will be reviewed with the Staff Member and signed by both the Staff Member and the evaluator. The Staff Member's signature indicates that he or she has seen the document but does not necessarily agree with it. A Staff Member who disagrees with an evaluation report or any document contained in his or her personnel file will be given the opportunity to submit a rebuttal, in writing, to be attached to the document in question. Other than the statutory guarantees of a Staff Member's own right to review the content of his or her personnel file, access to material contained therein will be limited to supervisory personnel within the District.

ARTICLE VI NOTICES OF VACANCIES

6.1 Vacancies within the District will be posted on a bulletin board at each of the schools as soon as the Board approves filling the vacancy. Such notices will include a description of the position, as it is then known to be, the requirements of the position, and the place and date at which an application is to be submitted. As long as there are no substantially qualified persons on layoff who are eligible for recall as defined in the Board Policy GCPA, Reduction-in-Force, the Board shall make the final decision in filling vacancies.

ARTICLE VII STAFF DEVELOPMENT

- 7.1 Re-certification does not guarantee continued employment by the District. Regardless of the type of certificate held, all Staff Members, as a condition of employment, must satisfactorily acquire a minimum of seventy-five (75) clock hour credits for each successive three year period, this period to coincide with the dates of certificate issue and renewal.
- 7.2 Clock hour credits are acquired in accordance with the SAU 41 Professional Development Plan for the District. It is the responsibility of the Staff Member to accumulate sufficient clock hour credits for re-certification and continued employment. Notification of a Staff Member's failure to obtain re-certification will immediately void that Staff Member's contract with the District.
- 7.3 Staff members shall use an electronic professional development management system ("PDMS") to accumulate and track their re-certification hours. The number of Staff Development hours accumulated, the amount needed for re-certification and the amount needed for completion of the conditions of employment shall be updated to the PDMS by the staff member and shall be approved by administration. The responsibility for re-certification and completion of those conditions of employment still rests with the individual, who should verify his or her own records.

7.4 PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT FUNDS

The Board will provide funds for staff development on the following basis for approved courses and professional development activities taken by Staff Members.

- A. Each year the District will make available an annual Professional Development Pool of \$58,000 for courses and staff development activities as provided in this section 7.4. One-half of the pool funds will be allocated for courses and staff development activities starting during the period July 1 to December 31. The remaining balance of pool funds (including unused funds allocated for the July 1-December 31 period) will be available after December 31.
 - (1) Each staff member will have up to \$2,000 available to him/her as an "Individual Limit" from the annual pool, to be distributed, by pre-payment or reimbursement, on a first-come, first-serve basis, according to the date the request is first submitted for approval.
 - (2) Each part time employee will have up to \$1,500 available to him/her as an "Individual Limit" from the annual pool, to be distributed, by pre-payment or reimbursement, on a first-come, first-serve basis, according to the date the request is first submitted for approval.
 - (3) The Individual Limit funds may be used for workshop fees, tuition, school fees, or textbooks required for the course or staff development activity. A Staff Member may also use up to \$160 from his/her Individual Limit once every three years for state agency fees relating to the Staff Member's New Hampshire state re-certification. In addition, up to 25% of the Individual Limit may be applied to travel and living expenses directly related to the course/activity. Mileage will be reimbursed at the IRS-approved rate. Reimbursements for meals will be at the GSA rate for the locale for the course/staff development activity.
 - (4) In order to obtain pre-payment or reimbursement, written approval must be obtained from the Superintendent or his/her designee prior to registration. To be approved, a course must be directly related to the Staff Member's current assignment within the District, to objectives defined in his/her evaluation or improvement plan, or to any career objective in education that is reasonable for the Staff Member to achieve within the District.
 - (5) A Staff member who fails to achieve a grade of "B" or better (or "pass" in a course offering only pass/fail grades) or fails to complete the course that term (subject to appeal to the Board for good cause) shall repay the District at the rate of seventy-five (\$75) per paycheck. Any remaining balance for such repayment may be deducted from an Employee's final paycheck in the event

- that an Employee leaves employment with the District with a repayment obligation remaining.
- (6) The parties agree that if the professional development pool monetary limit is met two school years in a row, the parties will negotiate an increase to the professional development fund at the next collective bargaining negotiations session.
- B. Each year, two (2) full-time staff members enrolled in a Masters level Program that make a written request will be approved for a payment for one additional course beyond the \$2,000 individual limit, not to exceed the cost of a UNH graduate course. If more than two (2) full-time staff members make a request, payment will be made based on seniority, with the most senior staff members being approved first. At no time can professional development payments exceed the total annual pool amount.
- C. Provided additional funds are available, the Superintendent may, at his/her sole discretion, approve a Staff Member's request for reimbursement exceeding the Individual Limit for:
 - (1) Costs/expenses relating to one Master's level course; or
 - (2) Travel or living expenses exceeding the 25% limit in paragraph 7.4.A.3.
- D. Provided additional funds are available, the Superintendent may, at his/her sole discretion, approve additional course work, or other staff development activities.
- E. At the end of the contract year, any funds not used for course reimbursement will be returned to the District.

ARTICLE VIII COMPENSATION

- 8.1 The basic annual salaries for full-time employment of Staff Members covered by this Agreement are determined from necessary appropriations by the voters of the District. Salaries for part-time employment will be pro-rated accordingly, i.e., the salary of the Staff Member who is employed half-time will be one-half (1/2) the amount indicated in the salary schedule (APPENDIX B).
 - (a) Effective July 1, 2019, the existing salary schedule will be normalized to 3% and each eligible staff member shall advance one step on the new salary schedule. Each eligible staff member on a top step will advance to Off-Step 2019-2020 and will be paid at the following rates of Base Pay:

BA: \$61,565

BA+15: \$65,009

BA+30: \$68,704

MA: \$73,117

MA+15: \$77,341

MA+30: \$81,820

MA+45: \$83,461

Staff Members currently in Group 1 will have the following dollar amount added to their current 2018-2019 Base Pay, with this figure becoming the new base pay:

BA, *BA*+15, *BA*+30: \$1,500

MA, *MA*+15, *MA*+30, *MA*+45: \$2,000

(b) Effective July 1, 2020, the existing salary schedule will be normalized to 2.8%, with a table increase of 1.5%, and each eligible staff member shall advance one step on the new salary table. Each staff member on a top step, off-step or in Group 1 will have the following dollar amount added to their 2019-2020 base pay, with this figure becoming the new base pay:

BA, BA+15, BA+30: \$1,600

MA, *MA*+15, *MA*+30, *MA*+45: \$2,100

(c) Effective July 1, 2021, the existing salary schedule will be increased by 2.5%. Each eligible staff member shall advance one step on the new salary table. Each staff member on a top step, off-step or in Group 1 will have the following dollar amount added to their 2020-2021 base pay, with this figure becoming the new base pay:

BA, BA+15, BA+30: \$1,700

MA, *MA*+15, *MA*+30, *MA*+45: \$2,200

- (d) During the term of this Agreement, there will be no wage increases or movement on the step schedule except as specifically set forth herein, and under no circumstances will the existing Group I be considered additional steps on the salary schedule.
- 8.2 Placement on the salary schedule at the time of initial hiring shall be in accordance with the Staff Member's total years of experience, highest degree held, and number of credits earned beyond said degree. Subsequent placement on the schedule shall reflect

additional experience, degrees, and credits earned. The Superintendent may withhold step, track and/or across-the-board increases based upon unsatisfactory performance, beginning with the step and track changes effective at the beginning of the 2008-2009 school year. The decision of the Superintendent may be appealed to Level C (the School Board) but shall not be subject to arbitration or an unfair labor practice at the Public Employee Labor Relations Board. The Staff Member shall be re-evaluated within ninety (90) school days after being informed in writing of the Superintendent's decision to withhold the increase. If the Staff Member has corrected the performance deficiency, based upon an improvement plan provided by the Principal, the increase shall be granted effective as of the date such increases were effective for other staff members.

- 8.3 School Nurse placement on the salary schedule, and subsequent movement, will be based on total years of experience, highest degree held and number of credits earned beyond said degree. Those school nurses that have achieved National Certification in School Nursing (NCSN) will receive an annual stipend of \$1,000.
- 8.4 Where there are no further entries beyond a certain step in a given column of the salary schedule, Staff Members who are placed in that column and have that number of years of experience or more will be placed at that last step. In the headings of the columns of the salary schedules, "expr" means number of years of experience, the designation "BA" or "B" is understood to mean Bachelor's Degree granted, the designation "MA" or "M" is understood to mean Master's Degree granted, and the numeric values represent additional college credits earned beyond said degree.

8.5 <u>INSTRUCTIONAL, CURRICULAR, EXTRA-CURRICULAR AND CO-CURRICULAR STIPENDS</u>

Stipends paid to persons covered by this agreement who are retained by the Board to perform activities which are now or in the future established and funded by the Board shall be agreed to between the staff member and the Board prior to the commencement of the activity. Such stipends shall be available for review.

Duties performed hereunder shall not constitute a condition of employment and shall be voluntary. In establishing the stipend of each activity, the Board shall consider the number of hours required to perform such activity. The relative amounts of such stipends shall be reviewed by the Board at least every three years.

8.6 RETIREMENT BENEFITS

Staff Members covered under this Agreement who have completed fifteen (15) or more years of service in the Hollis School District and who are eligible for retirement benefits under the New Hampshire Retirement System, shall be eligible to retire at a minimum age of fifty-five (55) with a retirement benefit of twenty-five (25) percent of the last full

year's salary. For retirement requests made prior to December 1st, payment shall be made immediately after July 1st at the beginning of the next fiscal year. If notice is given after December 1st, payment shall be made immediately after July 1st following the end of the next fiscal year. No more than four (4) retirement applications per year shall be approved by the Board. Those Staff Members who have attained the greatest age will be given first consideration. In the case of identical age, the Board shall grant both of the applicants early retirement and compensate for it in the next year by granting a maximum of three (3) early retirements. At the discretion of the board, more than four (4) staff members may be granted this early retirement benefit. If a Staff Member is not granted early retirement for the year of the initial request and s(he) re-applies the following year, the Staff Member will be given preference.

8.7 DIRECT DEPOSIT

The District will provide a savings and/or checking direct deposit program for Staff Members. All Staff Members shall receive their pay via direct deposit, but those receiving paper checks prior to January 1, 2006 have the option to continue. There will be no more than two (2) accounts per employee.

8.8 LONGEVITY

Any staff member who has completed fifteen (15) or more years teaching in the Hollis School District will receive longevity pay as follows:

	ВА	BA15	BA30	М	M15	M30	M45
15	\$1,000	\$1,100	\$1,200	\$2,000	\$2,100	\$2,200	\$2,300
20	\$1,250	\$1,350	\$1,450	\$2,250	\$2,350	\$2,450	\$2,550
25				\$2,500	\$2,600	\$2,700	\$2,800
30				\$2,750	\$2,850	\$2,950	\$3,050

This payment will be disbursed in the year following the threshold, provided the employee remains with the District, or has retired. This payment will be taxable.

8.9 By September 30th of each year, Staff Members shall notify the SAU Business Office, in writing, by a process established by the SAU, of their intent to complete a Lane Change in the school fiscal year. The District will provide confirmation of receipt of this notification. Failure to meet this deadline will result in a delay in budgeting the change until the fiscal year following the next year, provided that the appropriate paperwork is submitted. For example, the 2017-2018 deadline for submission would be September 30, 2017, for the change to be budgeted and made effective for the next school year (2018-2019). If the deadline is missed, the change would then be effective for

the 2019-2020 school year. By October 15th of each year, for those staff members who notified the SAU in the prior fiscal year of their intent to change lanes/tracks, completed Evaluation forms (not future dated requests) must be submitted after completion of the courses, along with OFFICIAL transcripts directly to Human Resources. Completed packets received on or before October 15th of each year, will be processed retro-actively to the start of that school year. Any completed packet received after that date, will be processed for the next available pay period.

8.10 Members who are requested by the District to attend IEP or other special education team meetings for a student that was or will be assigned to their classroom at the end of the current school year or prior to the opening of school will be compensated an hourly rate based upon their respective salaries and per diem rate. It is agreed that teachers will make a good-faith effort to attend these additional meetings.

ARTICLE IX SCHOOL NURSE

- 9.1 A School Nurse will be required to be available for assignments of "teacher type" functions for up to twenty-five percent (25%) of his or her work time. It is understood that School Nurses shall not be used as substitute teachers.
- 9.2 School Nurses shall be available for after school events scheduled for Professional Staff Members during the year. If needed to provide professional health services at after school student-oriented activities, they will be paid their regular rate of pay. School Nurses will be paid for five (5) additional days to prepare for the start of school.

ARTICLE X WORKING CONDITIONS

10.1 School Year

- A. The school year for staff members covered by this Agreement shall consist of the number of student days as determined by management, not to exceed one hundred seventy-eight (178) days, plus eight (8) professional days as defined below, and shall commence no earlier than the Monday before Labor Day.
 - Two (2) professional development days before the student school year begins, as defined by Building Administration.
 - One (1) professional development day, which contains a four (4) contiguous hour period of uninterrupted time for staff to prepare their classroom/office space during the first two days of the contract period, prior to the students' arrival. The rest of the day will be designated by Building Administration.

- One (1) day to all professional staff members for conducting parent/teacher conferences before the third Wednesday of November.
- Two (2) SAU-wide professional development days (typically held in November and March).
- One (1) day for staff to prepare classrooms required for summer maintenance, as well as finalize required student paperwork for grade level transition. Proof of the finalization of these End of Year Tasks will be through the completion of the Professional Staff End of Year Packet provided by management.
- One (1) professional development day as designated by Building Administration.
- B. New Staff_Members are required to attend up to two (2) orientation days before school begins, paid per diem (dates to be determined by the Superintendent).
- 10.2 A Staff Member whose contract year consists of other than this number shall receive a salary, as determined from Article VIII, which has been adjusted either up or down by an amount equivalent to his/her normal rate of compensation computed on a daily basis for each working day by which his/her contract year varies from the normal school year. Part-time Staff Members attending all-day workshops will be entitled to a full day's pay.

10.3 School Day

Staff Members shall be assigned to teaching, administrative, development and planning duties at the discretion of the administration. In general, a teacher will be expected to spend 5 hours and 25 minutes per day performing instructional activity; 30 minutes per day performing supervisory or instructional related activities normally associated with the opening and closing of school; 45 minutes in class preparation time (per section 10.6 below); and 25 minutes in a duty-free lunch (per section 10.5 below). In total, a teacher will typically be on-site for 7 hours and 5 minutes.

- 10.4 The Association agrees that a teacher's day is not necessarily coterminous with the pupils' day because teachers are expected to carry out their professional duties which shall include, but not be limited to, faculty meetings, conferences with parents and/or students, extra help to students, open houses, and/or conferences with administration as required; such duties and meetings being of reasonable frequency and duration. Staff Members shall attend no more than ten (10) staff meetings per year. Duration of such meetings shall be no longer than ninety (90) minutes.
- 10.5 The Board will continue its present practice with respect to a minimum of a twenty-five (25) minutes duty-free lunch.

- 10.6 The teachers in grades *Pre-School* through 6 will normally be scheduled for a minimum of two hundred twenty-five (225) minutes per student week, to include four 45 minute blocks, to be used as class preparation time.
- 10.7 Every reasonable effort will be made to schedule Child Study Team (CST) and Individual Educational Plan (IEP) meetings during the teacher work day.

10.8 The School Board will:

- 1. Apply the Reduction-in-Force Policy approved by the Hollis School Board on *November 18, 2018 Appendix C in this agreement,* and;
- 2. Follow the policy during the term of this Agreement, and;
- 3. Make no changes to policy during the term of this Agreement;
- 4. This policy shall be subject to the grievance and arbitration provisions of this Agreement; and
- 5. Solely for purposes of applying Section 5 of the Reduction-in-Force Policy, "probationary teachers" are those who have worked as teachers for the number of years designated by NH RSA 189-14-a or less.
- 10.9 Notwithstanding, the provisions of Board Policy GCPA, the assignment of personnel is a management prerogative.

10.10 Just Cause

- 1. No teacher shall be disciplined without just cause. Discipline is defined as written warnings, suspensions, non-renewals, and dismissals. However, just cause shall not extend to the non-renewal of a probationary teacher (See RSA 189: 14-A). Counseling shall not be considered a disciplinary action. Nothing in this provision will effect the limitation contained in Article 4.11 above.
- Any staff member shall be entitled to have present a representative of the Association during any meeting which involves or may involve disciplinary action.

ARTICLE XI DEDUCTIONS

11.1 The Board agrees that upon receipt of written authorization thereof, signed by a Staff Member covered by this Agreement, the Board will deduct from the regular salary check of such Staff Member an amount specified by the Staff Member to provide payment of dues for membership and assessments in the Hollis Education Association (HEA), NEA-NH. Such deductions will be forwarded to the Association treasurer monthly.

ARTICLE XII INSURANCE BENEFITS

12.1 Life Insurance

Each Staff Member who is regularly employed by the District for thirty (30) or more hours per week will be provided with a group term life insurance policy with a face value equal to two times his or her annual salary rounded up to the nearest thousand (1,000) dollars.

12.2 Health Insurance

Each Staff Member who is regularly employed by the District for thirty (30) or more hours per week will be provided with payment (partial or full as provided below) toward one of the following plans:

BC3T10 -RX 10/20/30 AB5-RX 10/20/30 AB10IPDED-RX 10/20/45 Lumenos ABSOS20/401KDED-RX 10/20/45

or some other health care plan chosen by the Board with a comparable schedule of benefits. The choice of plan will be at the option of the Staff Member.

Each staff member who is currently employed by the district for thirty (30) or more hours per week will be provided with payment toward either their current plan, or the ABSOS 20/401KDED-Rx 10/20/45 plan. For employees who elect single person coverage, the District will pay no more than 100% of the total premium cost of a single person ABSOS 20/401KDED-Rx 10/20/45 plan. For employees who elect two-person coverage, the District will pay no more than \$1525 per month toward their health insurance coverage.

For employees who elect family coverage, the District will pay no more than \$1625 per month toward their health insurance coverage.

Any staff member hired after July 1, 2017 who is employed by the district for thirty (30) or more hours per week will be provided with the same payment as current employees, but payment will only be toward coverage under the ABSOS 20/401KDED-Rx 10/20/45 plan.

Insurance Opt-Out - Require Proof Of Insurance

A Staff Member who is eligible for health insurance coverage though the District under this section; who provides the District with proof of coverage under an alternative employer-sponsored health insurance plan that does not trigger any tax, penalty or assessment under the Affordable Care Act; who opts out of health insurance coverage through the District; and who remains employed by the District for the entire school year, shall receive additional compensation of \$1,500 (less withholdings) payable at the end of the school year.

In the event that no employees enroll in a plan, the District may discontinue that plan. The deductible calendar for the health insurance plans that the District has offered will be July through June.

12.3 Dental Insurance

Full-time Staff Members will be provided with payment toward either Northeast Delta Dental health care coverages A, B, C and D, or some other plan with a comparable schedule of benefits, as follows:

One hundred percent (100%) of Coverage A; and eighty percent (80%) of Coverage B; and fifty percent (50%) of Coverage C (no deductible, with one thousand dollars (\$1,000) maximum per person per year); and fifty percent (50%) of Coverage D (with one thousand dollars (\$1,000) lifetime maximum per person for orthodontia age nineteen (19) and under). For single and two person membership the District shall pay seventy dollars (\$70.00) per month and for family membership the District shall pay ninety dollars (\$90.00) per month.

Comprehensive Income Security Plan:

12.4 Short Term Income Protection

Each full-time Staff Member will be credited at the beginning of each school year with ten (10) days sick leave. Part-time Staff Members will be credited with sick leave days on a pro-rated basis. Sick leave may accrue to a maximum of ninety (90) days.

Sick leave may be used for the Staff Member's own illness, disability, quarantine, or for essential treatments, examinations for diagnostic purposes, pregnancy and normal

customary post-partum, or other absences definitely related to the Staff Member's health, when such treatments, examinations, or absences can only occur during school hours. Normal and customary post-partum is considered up to six (6) weeks. Up to twenty (20) days of sick leave per year and additional days of sick leave at the discretion of the administration may also be used when the Staff Member's absence is required due to like conditions or illness of a dependent member of his or her immediate family. Immediate family, as used in this article, shall be interpreted to include husband, wife, son, daughter, father, mother, brother or sister of the Staff Member, or member of the immediate household of the Staff Member. If a Staff Member is absent more than four (4) consecutive days of sick leave under any provision of this paragraph, the administration has the sole and absolute discretion to request that the illness be verified by a physician.

12.5 Intermediate Term Income Protection

If a Staff Member has completely exhausted his or her sick leave and accrued sick leave and becomes ill, disabled, quarantined, needs treatment or examination for diagnostic purposes, or other occurrences definitely related to the Staff Member's health, he or she will be paid for such absences at eighty percent (80%) of his or her normal daily pay rate, for additional days absent up to such time as Long Term Disability commences, or the cessation of the disability, whichever occurs first. The combination of paid sick leave days and intermediate term disability days will not exceed ninety (90) for a single disability. The Intermediate Term Income Protection Plan is only intended for the Staff Member and does not cover absences due to illness of a member of his or her immediate family. During the time the Staff Member is covered by the Intermediate Term Income Protection Plan, the District will maintain payment of the Staff Member's medical insurance premiums.

12.6 <u>Long Term Disability</u>

The District will purchase Long Term Disability Insurance to cover all Staff Members. The policy/policies will provide for income at sixty-six and two-thirds (66 2/3) percent of the Staff Member's salary commencing after ninety (90) calendar days of disability, continuing until the Social Security retirement age for that Staff Member or the cessation of disability, whichever occurs first. A Staff Member on Long Term Disability who recovers from said disability will have the right to return to his or her teaching position at the beginning of the school year for up to two years from the date on which Long Term Disability payments began. The District will maintain payment *of the employer's portion* of the Staff Member's medical insurance premiums from the commencement of Long Term Disability until the Staff Member is eligible for health care under Medicare but in no case for a period of more than three (3) years. If a Staff Member is disabled for part of a school year, he or she will receive credit for that year for computing years of service.

12.7 The District will create an IRS Section 125 Flexible Spending Account Plan (FSA). These funds may be used to offset any medical, dental, child care, or other expenses allowed by law. Employees will be allowed to voluntarily contribute by payroll deduction to the Section 125 Plan up to the limit allowed by law.

ARTICLE XIII LEAVE BENEFITS

13.1 Personal Leave

A Staff Member will be granted "personal leave" days by the Principal or Superintendent to enable him or her to attend to personal affairs which, because of their nature, must be attended to at a time when school is in session. Application for personal leave must be made in writing as far in advance as is possible. In the case of an emergency, the request may be made by telephone, followed as soon as possible by the required written application.

- 13.2 If the reason for personal leave is, in the Staff Member's judgment, of an extremely personal nature, and he or she does not wish to share any information connected with the personal leave request, he or she is free to not state the reason.
- 13.3 If the Staff Member is an officer of the Association and the personal leave is required for that officer of the Association to exercise his or her responsibilities to represent another Staff Member or Members covered by this Agreement, the Staff Member may apply for a waiver such that this leave shall not be deducted from his or her own personal leave time.
- 13.4 No Staff Member will be granted more than three (3) personal leave days per school year. Personal leave under this Article may not be used to extend a holiday, a vacation or a long weekend. Therefore, Staff Members requesting personal leave before or after a holiday, a vacation or a long weekend will be required to give specific reasons for their requests.

13.5 Bereavement Leave

A Staff Member who is absent due to death in his or her immediate family is granted up to five (5) days leave not chargeable to sick leave or personal leave. "Immediate family" as used in this article shall include husband, wife, son, daughter, father, mother, brother, sister, grandparents, grandchildren, and in-laws such as mother, father, brother, sister, or member of the immediate household of the staff member.

13.6 Professional Leave

The Superintendent or Principals may grant Staff Members leave to attend conferences or visit schools without loss of pay, when extended absences are not involved. Such leave will be considered professional leave and will not be deducted from personal leave time.

13.7 Sabbatical Leave

Upon recommendation of the Superintendent, a sabbatical leave may be granted in any one school year to one member of the full-time Staff who has at least five (5) consecutive full school years of service in the District, for study that will be of value to the District. Such sabbatical leave will be for a single full school year, which year shall not count as an additional year's experience on the District's salary schedule. Compensation for the sabbatical year will be one-half the Staff Member's immediately preceding annual salary and full medical benefits. Staff requests for sabbatical leave must be made to the Superintendent by March 1st prior to the school year for which the sabbatical leave is being requested.

A Staff Member, to be granted a sabbatical leave, must execute a contract with the District agreeing to return to employment in the District for a period of at least two (2) full school years following termination of the sabbatical leave, and agreeing that, failing completion of the two (2) year period, he or she will repay a pro-rated portion of the sabbatical leave compensation for the remaining service not completed.

13.8 <u>Court/Agency Appearance</u>

Any employee required to be present in court or at a hearing before an administrative agency of the government shall be granted up to three (3) days of non-cumulative leave with pay per year. This limitation of three (3) days shall not apply to jury duty. The employee shall not be required to use another category of leave. This leave may not be used for personal legal matters. Any fees, less expenses, received by the employee for court/agency service shall be reimbursed to the School District.

13.9 Official Delegate Leave

Up to four (4) Staff Members may be designated as an "Official Delegate" to the NEA/NH Assembly of Delegates. Three (3) of these Official Delegates shall be granted one (1) day paid leave to attend such assembly; the fourth (4th) Official Delegate shall be granted one (1) day of unpaid leave. The name(s) of the designee(s), indicating which are to be paid or unpaid, and the date of the assembly shall be submitted in writing to the building principal at least forty-eight (48) hours in advance in order for the employee(s) to be eligible for payment.

13.10 Family Leave

Upon request, a Staff Member may be granted a leave of absence for up to three trimesters, without pay or benefits, for reasons described in the Family Medical Leave Act. Except in cases of emergency, the staff member shall give the district at least sixty (60) days' notice of the anticipated starting and ending dates of such leave. Staff members can return from leave at times other than the beginning of a grading period if a request is approved by administration. Upon return, the staff member shall be returned to his/her previous assignment or some equivalent assignment available at that time. The staff member shall retain all previously accrued benefits including sick leave accumulation and seniority. The staff member may continue insurance benefits at his/her own expense.

13.11 Other Unpaid Leave

The Board may grant extended leaves of absence, without pay or benefits, for further study or other reasons. Such leaves, if granted, are granted only for the purpose stated in the Staff Member's request for the leave, and should the conditions stated change, the Staff Member is required to so inform the Board and to be prepared to return to his or her normal assignment, or some equivalent assignment that is available at that time. Failure to so inform the Board shall be interpreted to be, in effect, a resignation from the Staff Member's employment with the District. The Board reserves the right to limit the total number of such leaves of absence granted in any one Contract Year.

ARTICLE XIV JURISDICTION AND AUTHORITY

14.1 The Board, subject only to the language of this Agreement, reserves to itself full jurisdiction and authority over matters of policy and retains the right in accordance with applicable laws and regulations to direct and manage all activities of the District. Except as specifically limited by express provisions of this agreement, the School Board, either directly or acting through its designees, reserves the right to exercise management prerogatives to include, but not be limited to: unilaterally determine the standards of service to be offered by it; set the standards of selection of employees; select employees; direct and assign its employees; take disciplinary action; relieve its employees from duties because of lack of work or other legitimate reasons; maintain the efficiency of governmental operations; determine the methods, means and personnel by which its operations are to be conducted; determine the content of job descriptions and classifications; allocate and reorganize positions and staffing; take all necessary actions to carry out its mission in emergencies; and exercise complete control and discretion over its organization and the facilities, methods, means and technology of performing its work.

- 14.2 The parties understand that neither the Board nor the Superintendent may lawfully delegate the powers which by law are vested in them, and this Agreement shall not be construed so as to limit or impair these respective statutory powers.
- 14.3 In the event that any provision of this Agreement is ultimately ruled invalid for any reason by an authority of established and competent legal jurisdiction, the balance and remainder of this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect. Further, the parties agree to meet within fifteen (15) days to negotiate a new provision within the limits established by said authority using the procedure outlined herein.

ARTICLE XV DURATION

- 15.1 The provisions of this Agreement will be effective as of the first day of July, 2019 and shall remain in full effect and binding on the parties until June 30, 2022.
- 15.2 This Agreement shall not be modified orally, but only through negotiations, as set forth in Article II of this Agreement.
- 15.3 This Agreement represents the final resolution of all matters in dispute between the parties and shall not be changed or altered unless the change or alteration has been agreed to and evidenced in writing by the parties hereto.

APPENDIX A

GRIEVANCE REPORT FORM

Copies to: 1. Staff Member(s)' Imm 3. Superintendent; 4. Association	nediate Superior; 2. Principal (if not 1);	
To:	Date:	
From:	School:	
	Date of Grievance:	
Statement of Grievance, including t specific Article of the Hollis School	the specific violation or condition, will reference the Board/HEA Agreement violated:	he
Relief Sought:		
	Signature	
	Date Received:	

LEVEL A

Submitted to:	Building Principal Date Received:
Decision of Principal	
	Signature
	Date:
LEVEI	
Appealed Prior Decision to:	Superintendent of Schools Date Received:
Decision of Superintendent:	
	Signature Date:
Opposing Position of Aggrieved Staff Member	r(s):
	Signature Date:

Submitted to Hollis School Board	LEVEL C
	Date Received:
Decision of School Board:	
	Board Chairperson Date:
	 LEVEL D
	LEVEL D
Request to Submit Decision in Level C t	
	o Arbitration
	o Arbitration
	o Arbitration

Date:

HOLLIS SCHOOL DISTRICT APPENDIX B

2019-2020 HEA Salary Schedule

	В	B+15	B+30	М	M+15	M+30	M+45
Step 1	\$43,183	\$44,273	\$45,426	\$46,934	\$48,201	\$49,507	\$50,500
Step 2	\$44,479	\$45,601	\$46,788	\$48,342	\$49,647	\$50,993	\$52,015
Step 3	\$45,813	\$46,969	\$48,192	\$49,792	\$51,136	\$52,523	\$53,575
Step 4	\$47,188	\$48,378	\$49,638	\$51,286	\$52,670	\$54,098	\$55,182
Step 5	\$48,603	\$49,829	\$51,127	\$52,825	\$54,250	\$55,721	\$56,838
Step 6	\$50,061	\$51,324	\$52,661	\$54,409	\$55,878	\$57,393	\$58,543
Step 7	\$51,563	\$52,864	\$54,241	\$56,042	\$57,554	\$59,115	\$60,299
Step 8	\$53,110	\$54,450	\$55,868	\$57,723	\$59,281	\$60,888	\$62,108
Step 9	\$54,704	\$56,083	\$57,544	\$59,455	\$61,059	\$62,715	\$63,971
Step 10	\$56,345	\$57,766	\$59,270	\$61,238	\$62,891	\$64,596	\$65,890
Step 11	\$58,035	\$59,499	\$61,048	\$63,075	\$64,778	\$66,534	\$67,867
Step 12	\$59,776	\$61,283	\$62,880	\$64,968	\$66,721	\$68,530	\$69,903
Step 13	\$0	\$63,122	\$64,766	\$66,917	\$68,723	\$70,586	\$72,000
Step 14	\$0	\$0	\$66,709	\$68,924	\$70,784	\$72,703	\$74,160
Step 15	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$70,992	\$72,908	\$74,885	\$76,385
Step 16	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$75,095	\$77,131	\$78,677
Step 17	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$79,445	\$81,037

FY20 OFFSTEP							
	В	B+15	B+30	М	M+15	M+30	M+45
Group 1	\$63,065	\$66,509	\$70,204	\$75,117	\$79,341	\$83,820	\$85,461
Offstep 2019-2020	\$61,565	\$65,009	\$68,704	\$73,117	\$77,341	\$81,820	\$83,461

HOLLIS SCHOOL DISTRICT APPENDIX B

2020-2021 HEA Salary Schedule

	В	B+15	B+30	М	M+15	M+30	M+45
Step 1	\$44,778	\$45,997	\$47,287	\$48,952	\$50,371	\$51,837	\$52,876
Step 2	\$46,032	\$47,285	\$48,611	\$50,323	\$51,781	\$53,289	\$54,357
Step 3	\$47,321	\$48,609	\$49,972	\$51,732	\$53,231	\$54,781	\$55,879
Step 4	\$48,646	\$49,970	\$51,371	\$53,180	\$54,722	\$56,315	\$57,443
Step 5	\$50,008	\$51,369	\$52,810	\$54,669	\$56,254	\$57,892	\$59,052
Step 6	\$51,408	\$52,807	\$54,288	\$56,200	\$57,829	\$59,513	\$60,705
Step 7	\$52,848	\$54,286	\$55,808	\$57,774	\$59,448	\$61,179	\$62,405
Step 8	\$54,328	\$55,806	\$57,371	\$59,391	\$61,113	\$62,892	\$64,152
Step 9	\$55,849	\$57,369	\$58,977	\$61,054	\$62,824	\$64,653	\$65,948
Step 10	\$57,413	\$58,975	\$60,629	\$62,764	\$64,583	\$66,463	\$67,795
Step 11	\$59,020	\$60,626	\$62,326	\$64,521	\$66,391	\$68,324	\$69,693
Step 12	\$60,673	\$62,324	\$64,071	\$66,328	\$68,250	\$70,237	\$71,645
Step 13	\$0	\$64,069	\$65,865	\$68,185	\$70,161	\$72,204	\$73,651
Step 14	\$0	\$0	\$67,710	\$70,094	\$72,126	\$74,226	\$75,713
Step 15	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$72,057	\$74,145	\$76,304	\$77,833
Step 16	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$76,221	\$78,440	\$80,012
Step 17	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$80,637	\$82,253

FY21 OFFSTEP							
	В	B+15	B+30	М	M+15	M+30	M+45
Group 1	\$64,665	\$68,109	\$71,804	\$77,217	\$81,441	\$85,920	\$87,561
Offstep 2019-2020	\$63,165	\$66,609	\$70,304	\$75,217	\$79,441	\$83,920	\$85,561
Offstep 2020-2021	\$61,376	\$64,722	\$68,309	\$73,092	\$77,195	\$81,545	\$83,137

HOLLIS SCHOOL DISTRICT APPENDIX B

2021-2022 HEA Salary Schedule

	В	B+15	B+30	М	M+15	M+30	M+45
Step 1	\$45,898	\$47,147	\$48,469	\$50,176	\$51,630	\$53,133	\$54,198
Step 2	\$47,183	\$48,467	\$49,826	\$51,581	\$53,076	\$54,621	\$55,716
Step 3	\$48,504	\$49,824	\$51,221	\$53,025	\$54,562	\$56,150	\$57,276
Step 4	\$49,862	\$51,219	\$52,655	\$54,510	\$56,090	\$57,723	\$58,879
Step 5	\$51,258	\$52,653	\$54,130	\$56,036	\$57,660	\$59,339	\$60,528
Step 6	\$52,694	\$54,128	\$55,645	\$57,605	\$59,275	\$61,000	\$62,223
Step 7	\$54,169	\$55,643	\$57,203	\$59,218	\$60,934	\$62,708	\$63,965
Step 8	\$55,686	\$57,201	\$58,805	\$60,876	\$62,641	\$64,464	\$65,756
Step 9	\$57,245	\$58,803	\$60,452	\$62,581	\$64,395	\$66,269	\$67,597
Step 10	\$58,848	\$60,449	\$62,144	\$64,333	\$66,198	\$68,125	\$69,490
Step 11	\$60,496	\$62,142	\$63,884	\$66,134	\$68,051	\$70,032	\$71,436
Step 12	\$62,189	\$63,882	\$65,673	\$67,986	\$69,957	\$71,993	\$73,436
Step 13	\$0	\$65,671	\$67,512	\$69,890	\$71,915	\$74,009	\$75,492
Step 14	\$0	\$0	\$69,402	\$71,847	\$73,929	\$76,081	\$77,606
Step 15	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$73,858	\$75,999	\$78,211	\$79,779
Step 16	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$78,127	\$80,401	\$82,013
Step 17	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$82,653	\$84,309

FY22 OFFSTEP							
	В	B+15	B+30	М	M+15	M+30	M+45
Group 1	\$66,365	\$69,809	\$73,504	\$79,417	\$83,641	\$88,120	\$89,761
Offstep 2019-2020	\$64,865	\$68,309	\$72,004	\$77,417	\$81,641	\$86,120	\$87,761
Offstep 2020-2021	\$63,076	\$66,422	\$70,009	\$75,292	\$79,395	\$83,745	\$85,337
Offstep 2021-2022	\$62,373	\$65,769	\$69,410	\$74,257	\$78,421	\$82,837	\$84,453

HOLLIS SCHOOL DISTRICT APPENDIX C

- A. When it is determined to reduce the number of professional teaching staff, the following procedure will be utilized:
 - 1. As soon as a reduction-in-force becomes necessary the President of the Association shall be notified in writing, specifying the nature of the proposed reduction.
 - 2. Reductions will first be accomplished by attrition (resignations, retirements, refusal to contract).
 - 3. If more reductions-in-force are necessary, then part time Staff shall be laid off.
 - 4. For purposes of this policy, classifications will be defined as follows:
 - a) Regular education pre-school through 6th grade.
 - b) Specialized teaching areas including, but not limited to, Special Education, Art, Computer, Guidance, Nurses, Library, Music (General, Choral, or Instrumental), Physical Education, Reading and Math Specialists, Spanish, Environmental Science and School Psychologist.
 - 5. Within these classifications, probationary teachers shall be laid off first. If further reductions are necessary, then teachers on continuing contract will be laid off. A continuing contract teacher is one who qualifies for notice, reasons, and a School Board hearing under the provisions of RSA 189:14-a. Among continuing contract teachers, the following criteria will be utilized:
 - a) New Hampshire Certification.
 - b) Academic and professional preparation beyond minimum requirements.
 - c) Teaching performance as determined by previous evaluations.
 - 6. If the factors set forth in paragraph A.5 are substantially equal, then seniority shall determine the order of layoff, with the least senior teacher being laid off first. Seniority is defined as the total years of uninterrupted service to the Hollis School District within a bargaining unit position. Approved leaves or transfers to a non-bargaining unit position shall not result in loss of previously accrued seniority. However, resignation shall terminate all previously accrued seniority.
- B. Teachers shall be recalled in reverse order of layoff for any open position within the classification in which the layoff occurred. Only continuing contract teachers shall be eligible for recall rights. The same conditions as A.4 shall apply to the recall.

- 1. Laid off teachers shall be eligible for recall for a two (2) year period following their final date of employment.
- 2. Teachers shall be responsible for notifying the Superintendent in writing of their current address. Recall notices shall be mailed certified, return receipt requested.
- 3. Teachers shall have twenty (20) business days to respond to any recall notice. Failure to accept recall to a permanent full-time position shall terminate the teacher's rights under this Article.
- 4. No new employees shall be hired for any vacancy within a classification while there are laid off personnel from those classifications available to fill those positions.
- 5. Teachers recalled shall retain pervious seniority and other accrued contract benefits, such as accumulated sick leave.
- 6. Should a vacancy occur within a classification and there are no teachers on the recall list for that classification, then that vacancy shall be offered to the most senior teacher laid off from another classification who is certified and substantially qualified to teach that position. If the laid off teacher refuses the vacant position, his/her recall rights shall be retained.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement on this **20th** day of *June*, 2019.

HOLLIS SCHOOL BOARD

Rob Mann, Chair Hollis School Board

Andrew Corey

Superintendent of Schools

HOLLIS EDUCATION ASSOCIATION

Lisa Stone, President

Hollis Education Association

Sandra Van Sciver, Negotiator

Hollis Education Association